
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

GUAM CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE REVIEW COMMISSION 
PLENARY MEETING FEBRUARY 6, 2025 

AGENDA  
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
II. PROOF OF DUE NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
III. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 
 
IV. DISPOSAL OF MINUTES December 3, 2024 
 
V. OLD BUSINESS 

 
A. Subcommission Status Update and Report of the Executive Director 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. Subcommission on Drugs & Other Criminal Offenses: Continued Discussion of 

Chapters Previously Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for 
Discussion and Approval 

 
B. Subcommission on Crimes Relating to Property: Continued Discussion of Chapters 

Previously Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for 
Discussion and Approval 

 
C. Subcommission on Crimes Against Persons: Continued Discussion of Chapters 

Previously Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for 
Discussion and Approval 

 
D. Notice of Next Meeting: Thursday, April 10, 2025, Noon (Tentative) 

 
VII. COMMUNICATIONS  
 
VIII. PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
IX. ADJOURNMENT 



GUAM
 DAILY PO

ST • THURSDAY, JANUARY 30, 2025
29CLASSIFIEDS



GU
AM

 D
AI

LY
 P

O
ST

 •
 TU

ES
DA

Y, 
 FE

BR
UA

RY
 4

, 2
02

5
28 CLASSIFIEDS



 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

CLRC PLENARY MEETING OF 

DECEMBER 3, 2024 



 

GUAM CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE REVIEW COMMISSION (CLRC) 
PLENARY MEETING | THURSDAY, DECEMBER 3, 2024 

MINUTES 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Jonathan Quan at 12:00 PM. 

II. PROOF OF DUE NOTICE OF MEETING 

Chairman Quan noted that public notices of the meeting were published pursuant to the Open 
Government Law and are included in the meeting packet. 

III. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 

CLRC Administrative Support Lisa Ibanez called the roll. 
CLRC Members:  
Hon. Jonathan R. Quan, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Hon. Maria T. Cenzon, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Hon. Anita A. Sukola, (No response during roll call) 
Atty. William Bucky Brennan, Present on Zoom, Chalan Pago 
DOC Director Fred Bordallo or designee Maj. Antone F. Aguon, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Chief of Police Stephen Ignacio or Designee Lt Ron Taitano, (No response during roll call) 
Atty Joseph B McDonald, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Atty. F. Randall Cunliffe, Present on Zoom, Tamuning 
Mr. Monty McDowell, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Public Defender Stephen Hattori or Designee Dep. Dir. John Morrison, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Attorney General Douglas Moylan or Designee DAG Nathan Tennyson, Present on Zoom, Tamuning 
Atty. Mike Phillips, (No response during roll call) 
Ms. Valerie Reyes, (No response during roll call) 
Atty. Christine Tenorio, Present on Zoom, Tamuning 
Atty. Phillip Tydingco, Present, Judiciary of Guam 

Ex-Officio, (Non-Voting Members) 
Executive Director Andrew S. Quenga, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Compiler of Laws Geraldine Cepeda, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Attorney Kristine Borja, Present on Zoom 
Attorney Valerie Nuesa, Present, Judiciary of Guam 
Attorney Zachary Taimanglo, Present, Judiciary of Guam 

Chairman Quan acknowledged a quorum present. 

IV. DISPOSAL OF MINUTES: September 12, 2024 

The minutes from the previous Plenary Meeting, September 12, 2024, was approved without 
objection. 



2 
 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

A. Subcommission Status Update and Report of the Executive Director. 

Director Quenga provided an informational report. 

 Welcomed Attorney Zach Taimanglo from the Public Defender and Attorney Valerie 
Nuesa from the Attorney General’s Office who will be assisting the DOCO 
Subcommission as ex-officio members. Welcomed to the CLRC Lisa Ibanez as CLRC 
Administrative Assistant and Attorney Gordon Anderson as a legal researcher. 
Thanked Attorney Brian Eggleston, who relocated from Guam, for his work with the 
Criminal Procedure Subcommission.  
 

 Provided a status update of Title 9 chapters that have been presented and completed 
or tabled, and chapters that have not been presented as shown in the PowerPoint 
presentation for Attachment. Out of 46 chapters, on 13 are pending review. Other 
chapters have been presented and completed or tabled in the first phase review. 
 

 Advised the Commission that CLE credits will be available to attorney members for 
their work over the past year.  

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Subcommission on Crimes Against Persons: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously 
Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and 
Approval 
 
Subcommission Chair Attorney McDonald presented redline markups of his 
Subcommission’s recommendations brought before the Commission at the last plenary 
meeting. Attorney McDonald’s PowerPoint presentation is included as Attachment 1. 
 
 9 GCA Chapter 19. Assault, Reckless Endangering, Terrorizing. 

o § 19.50. Terroristic Conduct; Defined and Punished. Amend (a) as shown in 
Attachment 1, Slide 4. 

 Discussion: Remove the semicolon after “assembly” and replace with 
a comma. Compiler of Laws stated this should be a formal amendment 
to avoid interpretation issues. 

o § 19.81. Interfering with the Reporting of Family Violence; Defined & 
Punished. Amend (c) as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 5.  

 Discussion: Reduce offense level from felony to misdemeanor. 
 Amend 9 GCA § 30.300 (Interfering with the Reporting of Family 

Violence), which mirrors § 19.81. Amend (c) as shown in Attachment 
1, Slide 7. 

 Discussion: Reduce offense level from felony to misdemeanor. 
 9 GCA Chapter 22. Kidnapping and Related Offenses. 

o § 22.20. Kidnapping; Defined & Punished. Amend (a)(2) as shown in 
Attachment 1, Slide 9. 

 Discussion: Replace “felony” with “crime.” Attorneys Morrison and 
Cunliffe objected, citing concerns about over-broadening the statute. 
Attorney Tenorio stated this was her recommendation after surveying 
different jurisdictions that refer to crime instead of felony, also 



3 
 

difficult to charge kidnapping if not able to determine the felony 
someone is trying to commit. 

 9 GCA Chapter 25. Sexual Offenses. 
o § 25.10. Definitions. Add new (a)(12) and (a)(13) as shown in Attachment 1, 

Slide 11. 
 Discussion: New subsections add definitions of affinity and 

consanguinity. 
 9 GCA Chapter 25A. Solicitation of Children and Child Pornography. 

o § 25A102. Indecent Electronic Display to a Child. Amend (c) as shown in 
Attachment 1, Slide 13. 

 Discussion: Delete (c) and add back as a new § 25A106. 
o § 25A103. Electronic Enticement of a Child as a Third Degree Felony. Amend 

(a) and (d) as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 14. 
 Discussion: Delete (a)(1)(B). Delete (d) and add back as a new section 

25A106. 
o § 25A104. Electronic Enticement of a Child as a Second Degree Felony. Amend 

(a) as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 15. 
 Discussion: Delete (a)(1)(B). 

o § 25A105. Electronic Enticement of a Child as a First Degree Felony. Amend (a) 
as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 16. 

 Discussion: Delete (a)(1)(B). 
o § 25A106. Add as a new section as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 17. 

 Discussion: Same language deleted from § 25A102(c) and § 25A103(d). 
However, replace “Section” with “Chapter.” 

 9 GCA Chapter 26. Human Trafficking and Criminal Exploitation Act of 2009. 
o Chapter 26, Article 2 Prevention of Trafficking. Repeal Article 2 as shown in 

Attachment 1, Slide 19. 
 Discussion: Repeal Article 2 in its entirety. Provisions are not enforced 

or funded. Feds are very active in this. Attorney Tennyson requested 
more time to review this and asked to table this part. Attorney 
Tydingco noted this was AG generated legislation out of the “Blue 
House” case. Attorney Morrison noted that to his knowledge no 
crimes have been charged under this chapter. Judge Cenzon noted the 
Coalition Against Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault had federal 
funding and was to work with the AG’s Office on human trafficking. 
She agreed with Attorney Tennyson looking at this. Chairman Quan 
tabled this recommendation. 

o § 26.41. Protection of Trafficking and Domestic Violence Shelters. Amend (a) 
as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 20. 

 Discussion: Amend (a) to delete “maliciously.” Attorney McDonald 
noted maliciousness is not in the Model Penal Code. He noted that 
“knowingly” was initially proposed to be added, however, criminal 
negligence will encompass any higher mental state. Attorney 
Tennyson asked if we are conforming to the MPC. Chairman Quan 
responded “yes.” 

 9 GCA Chapter 31. Offenses Against the Family. 
o § 31.30. Child Abuse; Defined & Punished. Amend (a) as shown in Attachment 

1, Slide 22. 
 Discussion: Amend (a) to add new (a)(2) and (3), “willfully causes or 

permits any child to suffer” and “inflicts upon a child unjustifiable 



4 
 

physical pain or mental suffering.” Amend (a)(2) to delete (B) “subjects 
that child to cruel mistreatment.” Amend (a)(2)(C) to add 
“unreasonably causes or permits that child to be placed in a situation 
where his or her person or health may be endangered.” Add a new 
subsection under (a)(2), “neglects that child.” Attorney Tenorio noted 
that the proposed additions are from the California Penal Code or 
from New Jersey. Attorney Tennyson asked if there is a definition of 
“suffer” or boundary between criminal suffer and a punishment that 
the child does not like. Chairman Quan noted the same concern and 
stated that the new (a)(2) as too broad and conflicts with 9 GCA § 7.94, 
which allows spanking. Chairman Quan also noted new (a)(2) allows 
for justifiable physical pain. Chairman Quan proposed striking 
proposed (a)(2). The Subcommission agreed to strike the proposed 
(a)(2). 

o § 31.30. Add a new (d) as shown in Attachment 1, Slide 23. 
 Discussion: Attorney Tenorio noted this new subsection (d) is from the 

New Jersey code. Compiler of Laws Cepeda suggested replacing “in” 
with “of” after “consist.” Chairman Quan asked if there is an issue 
involving Jehovah’s Witnesses. Attorney Tenorio noted she did see 
such issues but this language does not prevent them from putting 
forth such a defense.  
 

Chairman Quan called for a motion to approve the recommendations on §§ 19.50(a), 
19.81(c), 25.10, 25A102-25A106. Approved without objection. 
 
Chairman Quan called for a motion to approve § 22.20. Approved over objections by 
Attorneys Cunliffe, Morrison and Brennan. 
 
Chairman Quan tabled the recommendation to repeal Article 2 of Chapter 26. 
 
Chairman Quan called for a motion to approve the recommendations on §§ 26.41 and 
31.30, noting that the recommendation on § 31.30(a)(2) was stricken. Approved without 
objection. 

B. Subcommission on Drugs and Other Criminal Offenses: Continued Discussion of Chapters 
Previously Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion 
and Approval 

Subcommission Chair, Judge Maria T. Cenzon presented DOCO’s continuing review of 9 
GCA Chapter 67 - The Guam Uniform Controlled Substances Act. Judge Cenzon’s 
PowerPoint presentation is included here as Attachment 2. 

 Adult Drug Court judges are making internal drug court revisions. DOCO is looking at 
statutory changes. 
 

 Regarding Article I, Definitions, no changes are recommended.  
 

 With respect to Article 2, Standards and Schedules, and Article 3, Regulation of 
Manufacture, Distributions and Dispensing of Controlled Substances, we require the 
expertise and assistance of DPHSS to review and will ask the Director to designate 
someone to assist. 



5 
 

 
 Article 4, Offenses and Penalties, will get assistance from defense bar and prosecution 

as offenses and penalties are most prominent at adult drug court hearings. We see a 
lot of individuals who go through drug court successfully but are unable to pay fines 
that are not convertible to community service. 

Chairman Quan called for a motion to approve the recommendation for no changes to 
Article I. Approved without objection. 

C. Subcommission on Crimes Relating to Property: Continued Discussion of Chapters 
Previously Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion 
and Approval 

Subcommission Chair, Attorney Phil Tydingco presented his Subcommission’s 
recommendations on 9 GCA Chapter 69 and 10 GCA Chapter 60. Attorney Tydingco’s 
PowerPoint presentation is included here as Attachment 3. 

 9 GCA Chapter 69. Antitrust Law. 
o § 69.40. Criminal Penalty. Amend as shown in Attachment 3, Slide 4. 

 Discussion: Delete the last sentence in (a) and delete (b) in its entirety. 
Attorney McDonald asked why the statute of limitations is being 
reduced. Attorney Tydingco noted the general statute of limitations of 
three years for felonies should cover this unless policy reasons justify 
a longer period. Attorney Tydingco noted that certain financial paper 
crimes have a longer statute of limitation because of the difficulty in 
uncovering it and finding evidence but the Subcommission wanted 
consistency with felony statute of limitations. He noted the only 
exceptions of rape and murder. Chairman Quan added official 
misconduct. Attorney McDonald noted this was only for antitrust 
which has never been charged. 
 
Regarding (b), Attorney McDonald noted deletion removes the double 
jeopardy provision. Attorney Brennan stated that removal of (b) is 
consistent with the Puerto Rico v. Sanchez Valle case. Attorney 
Cunliffe stated our law says if you are convicted in federal court, you 
can’t be convicted in Superior Court and federal law says if you’re 
convicted in Superior Court, you can’t be convicted in federal court. It 
restates the law that already exists. It is redundant. 

o §§ 69.45 (Civil Penalty and Injunctive Enforcement), 69.50 (Judgment in Favor 
of Territory if Prima Facie Evidence), 69.55 (Limitation of Actions), 69.60 
(Remedies Cumulative). Recommend recodifying these sections outside of the 
criminal code. Sections are for injunctions and permit civil lawsuits. Executive 
Director Quenga stated he will work with the Compiler of Laws to find the 
appropriate place in the civil code for these sections and report back. 

 10 GCA Chapter 60. Firearms.  
o § 60108. Same: Restrictions. Amend (b)(2) as shown in Attachment 3, Slide 11. 

 Discussion: Attorney Tydingco noted the amendment adds Compact 
of Free Association migrants. Attorney McDonald noted the language 
references a specific form that may change. He suggested adding “or 
equivalent.” Attorney Tydingco agreed with more general language. 
 





 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

 

SUBCOMMISSION ON CRIMES 
AGAINST PERSONS  

PRESENTATION 

  

7



Slide 1 Slide 2

Slide 3 Slide 4

8



Slide 5 Slide 6

Slide 7 Slide 8

9



Slide 9 Slide 10

Slide 11 Slide 12

10



Slide 13 Slide 14

Slide 15 Slide 16

11



Slide 17 Slide 18

Slide 19 Slide 20

12



Slide 21 Slide 22

Slide 23 Slide 24

13



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

 

SUBCOMMISSION ON DRUGS & 
OTHER CRIMINAL OFFENSES 

PRESENTATION  

14



Slide 1

Slide 215



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 3 

 

SUBCOMMISSION ON CRIMES 
RELATING TO PROPERTY 

PRESENTION 

16



Slide 1 Slide 2

Slide 3 Slide 4

17



Slide 5 Slide 6

Slide 7 Slide 8

18



Slide 9 Slide 10

Slide 11

19



 
 
 
 

CLRC PLENARY MEETING 
FEBRUARY 6, 2025 

PRESENTATION 



2/4/2025

1

GUAM CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE
REVIEW COMMISSION

PLENARY MEETING
FEBRUARY 6, 2025

12:00 NOON

GUAM CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE
REVIEW COMMISSION

PLENARY MEETING
FEBRUARY 6, 2025

12:00 NOON

AGENDA

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. PROOF OF DUE NOTICE OF MEETING

III. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM

IV. DISPOSAL OF MINUTES December 3, 2024

V. OLD BUSINESS 
A. Subcommission Status Update and Report of the Executive Director

VI. NEW BUSINESS
A. Subcommission on Drugs & Other Criminal Offenses: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously

Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and Approval
B. Subcommission on Crimes Relating to Property: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously

Presented and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and Approval
C. Subcommission on Crimes Against Persons: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented

and Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and Approval
D. Notice of Next Meeting

VII. COMMUNICATIONS 

VIII. PUBLIC COMMENT 

IX. ADJOURNMENT

1

2



2/4/2025

2

SUBCOMMISSION STATUS UPDATE

REPORT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

REPORT OF THE SUBCOMMISSION ON DRUGS
AND OTHER CRIMINAL OFFENSES

February 6 , 2025
 

Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented and Presentation of 
AddiƟonal RecommendaƟons for Discussion and Approval 

Members: Hon. Maria T. Cenzon (Chair), DOC Director Fred Bordallo; Atty Mike 
Phillips; Ms. Valerie Reyes; Geraldine A. Cepeda, Compiler of Laws;

Hon. Elizabeth Barrett-Anderson (ex-officio); Atty Kat Siguenza (ex-officio); Atty 
Kristine Borja; Atty Zachary Taimanglo; Atty Valerie Nuesa

3

4



2/4/2025

3

§ 67.401.1. Possession, Etc. for Illegal Delivery, Dispensing or 
Manufacturing; Defined; Punishments Classified According to 

Drug Class Involved. – NO CHANGE

§ 67.401.2. Illegal Possession; Defined and 
Punishment. – NO CHANGE

5

6



2/4/2025

4

Recommendation: Move to Chapter 61 or 70

• § 67.401.2.1. Inhalants. 

• § 67.401.2.2. List of Known Inhalants with Potential for 
Abuse. 

• Rationale: Substances used as inhalants often are not 
controlled substances, so should not be codified in 
Chapter 67

• Recommendation: Move to Chapter 67 (§ 61.25. Public 
Drunkenness) or Chapter 70 (Miscellaneous Crimes)

• Note: Offenses have not been prosecuted; List of 
Inhalants mandated by § 67.401.2.2 is outdated

§ 67.401.2.1. Inhalants.

(a) Use of Inhalants. It is unlawful for a person to inhale, ingest, apply or smell the
gases, vapors or fumes of an aerosol spray product, volatile chemical, substance or other
inhalant, that is not used pursuant to the instructions or prescription of a licensed health
care provider, or that is not used pursuant to the manufacturer’s label instructions, for the
purpose of becoming under the influence of such substance, causing intoxication,
euphoria, inebriation, stupefaction or the dulling of that person’s brain or nervous system.

(b) It is unlawful for a person to possess any gas, hazardous inhalant, aerosol spray
product, substance containing a volatile chemical or substance containing a chemical
material capable of releasing toxic vapors with the intent to violate the above.

(c) Nothing in this Section applies to the inhalation of a prescription or over-the-
counter product for medical or dental purposes, or the inhalation of the vapors or fumes
of an alcoholic beverage, the sale and consumption of which is authorized by law.

(d) Proof that a person intentionally or knowingly inhaled, ingested, applied or used a
substance in a manner contrary to the directions for use, cautions or warnings on a label
of a container of the substance gives rise to a presumption that the person violated
Subsection (a).

(e) For purposes of this Section, it is presumed that the ingredients in a container are,
in fact, the ingredients listed on the label of the container or the ingredients listed for that
substance in databases maintained or relied upon by a poison control center certified by
a national association of poison control centers.

7

8



2/4/2025

5

§ 67.401.2.1. Inhalants.
(f) A person who violates this Section commits a petty misdemeanor. A

person who violates Subsections (h), (i) or (j) of this Section commits a petty
misdemeanor for the first offense and a misdemeanor for subsequent
offenses.

(g) A juvenile court may require a minor found in violation of this Section be
provided with treatment and counseling.

(h) It is a petty misdemeanor for any person or business to sell, or transfer
butane gas or butane lighters or butane in any other form to any person under
the age of eighteen (18).

(i) It is a petty misdemeanor for any person or business to sell or transfer
propane gas to any person under the age of eighteen (18).

(j) It is a petty misdemeanor for any person or business to sell or transfer
substances on the List of Known Inhalants with Potential for Abuse, as defined
in § 67.401.2.2 (a) and (b) of this Chapter, to any person under the age of
eighteen (18). This Subsection shall not apply to prescription or over-the-
counter medication.

(k) It is not unlawful to transfer inhalants to persons under the age of
eighteen (18) provided that the minor’s use of such inhalants is consistent with
the product’s labeling and is supervised by an adult over the age of eighteen
(18).

§ 67.401.2.2. List of Known Inhalants with Potential for Abuse.

(a) The Guam Behavioral Health and Wellness Center shall maintain a
“List of Known Inhalants with Potential for Abuse.” Such list shall contain
all known substances with the potential for abuse as defined in §
67.401.2.1 of this Chapter. The list shall be:

(1) reviewed and updated at least once annually;
(2) maintained on the Internet; and
(3) distributed to island retailers and all public and private schools as

the list is updated.
(b) Butane and propane shall be on the “List of Known Inhalants with

Potential for Abuse.”
(c) The Department shall, by Administrative Rules and Regulations,

develop the procedures by which Inhalants are added to the List of Known
Inhalants with Potential for Abuse.

(d) All additions to the “List of Known Inhalants with Potential for Abuse”
shall require the approval of I Maga’håga/Maga’låhi.

(e) Penalties contained in § 67.401.2.1(j) shall not apply until such
substance has been on the “List of Known Inhalants with Potential for
Abuse” for a period of not less than six (6) months.

9

10



2/4/2025

6

§ 67.401.2.1. Inhalants.

§ 67.401.2.3. Pseudoephedrine: Retail Sale. – NO CHANGE

11

12



2/4/2025

7

§ 67.401.3. Penalties in Addition to Any Civil 
Penalties. – NO CHANGE

Additional research needed to determine 
changes/trends in federal and other state law

• § 67.401.4. Prison Terms for Drug Offenders.

• § 67.401.5. Fines for Drug Offenses.

• § 67.401.6. Additional Fines in Drug Offenses. 

• § 67.401.9. Importation and Exportation Penalties.

• Rationale: Uniform Controlled Substances Act enacted 
in 1998; consider progress in treatment and changes in 
laws

• Recommendation: Conduct additional research and 
seek input from partners

13

14



2/4/2025

8

§ 67.401.7. Information for Sentencing. –
NO CHANGE

§ 67.401.8. Establishing Previous Convictions.
– NO CHANGE

15

16



2/4/2025

9

§ 67.401.8. Establishing Previous Convictions.
– NO CHANGE

Additional research needed to determine 
changes/trends in federal and other state law

17

18



2/4/2025

10

Thank you!

19

20



2/4/2025

11

DOCO TABLE OF AMENDMENTS

TABLEADDREPEAL & RE-ENACTREPEALAMEND
No-

ChangeSection/ArticleChapter number, name
No-

Change67.401.19 GCA Chapter 67. Controlled Substances.
No-

Change67.401.2
Repeal & Re-enact 
(move)67.401.2.1
Repeal & Re-enact 
(move)67.401.2.2

No-
Change67.401.2.3

Table67.401.4

Table67.401.5

Table67.401.6
No-

Change67.401.7
No-

Change67.401.8

Table67.401.9

Report of the Subcommission on
Crimes Relating to Property

February 6, 2025

Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented and Presentation of 
AddiƟonal RecommendaƟons for Discussion and Approval 

Members: Atty Phillip J. Tydingco (Chair), 
Atty F. Randall Cunliffe, Mr. Monty McDowell, Atty William B. Brennan

21

22



2/4/2025

12

Preliminary Review Completed
(by Chapter)

• 9 GCA Chapter 32 (Financial Exploitation of 
Elderly)

• 9 GCA Chapter 34 (Arson, Negligent Burning, 
Criminal Mischief) 

• 9 GCA Chapter 37 (Burglary)
• 9 GCA Chapter 40 (Robbery)
• 9 GCA Chapter 43 (Theft and Related Offenses)
• 9 GCA Chapter 46 (Forgery, Fraudulent Practices 

& Telephone Records)
• 9 GCA Chapter 47 (Trademark Counterfeiting 

Act) 
• 9 GCA Chapter 48 (Notification of Breaches of 

Personal Information) 
• 9 GCA Chapter 70 (Miscellaneous Crimes)
• 10 GCA Chapter 60 (Firearms)
• 9 GCA Chapter 69 (Antitrust Law)
• 9 GCA Chapter 13 (Attempt, Solicitation, 

Conspiracy)

Chapters Remaining
• None

Items for Today
• 9 GCA Chapter 13

*The Subcommittee thanks Attorney Gordon 
Anderson for his work and comprehensive 
review of Guam Supreme and Superior Court 
cases concerning this Chapter. 

23

24



2/4/2025

13

9 GCA § 13.10

“A person is guilty of an attempt to commit a crime when, with intent to engage in 
conduct which would constitute such crime were the circumstances as he believes 
them to be, he performs or omits to perform an act which constitutes a substantial 
step toward commission of the crime.”

In People v. Tedtaotao, 2015 Guam 31, the Guam Supreme Court held that 
“attempted reckless murder” is not a cognizable offense because one cannot 
attempt (with intent) to commit a reckless act.

The Subcommittee was split on whether a note should be added to the statute 
referring to Tedtaotao.

9 GCA § 13.35
“If a person conspires to commit a number of crimes, he may be convicted of only one conspiracy 
so long as those multiple crimes are the object of the same agreement or continuous 
conspiratorial relationship.”

Superior Court decisions currently conflict, with CF0311-20 People v. Topasna, Dec. & Order (Jan. 
26, 2022) (J. Barcinas) (granting defendant’s pretrial motion to dismiss conspiracy counts because 
the court found “it difficult to see how [the facts highlighted] would support the commission of 
two separate conspiracies”) and CF0330-17 People v. Santos, Dec. & Order (Jan. 2, 2018) (J. 
Bordallo) (denying pretrial motion to dismiss and declining to order the Government to elect 
which conspiracy to bring to trial, finding Government may charge multiple lesser included 
conspiracies in an Indictment). 

The Subcommittee was undecided on whether to address any change in the statute given the 
conflict, or allow parties to continue to litigate this issue until the Guam Supreme Court decides 
whether a pre trial election by the Government is required. 

25

26



2/4/2025

14

9 GCA § 13.20

A person is guilty of solicitation to commit a felony crime
when with intent to promote or facilitate its commission he 
commands, encourages or requests another person to 
perform or omit to perform an act which constitutes such 
crime or an attempt to commit such crime or would establish 
his complicity in its commission or attempted commission.

9 GCA § 13.60

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section attempt, solicitation and 
conspiracy are crimes of the same grade and degree as the most serious 
crime which is attempted or solicited or is an object of the conspiracy. 

(b) Attempted murder, and solicitation and conspiracy to commit murder 
are felonies of the first degree. 

(c)(b) A conspiracy to commit a misdemeanor involving danger to the 
person or to commit a series or number of misdemeanors pursuant to a 
common scheme or plan is a felony of the third degree. 

27

28



2/4/2025

15

Thank you!

PROPERTY TABLE OF AMENDMENTS

TABLEADDREPEAL & RE-ENACTREPEALAMEND
No-

ChangeSection/ArticleChapter number, name

13.10
9 GCA Chapter 13. Attempt, Solicitation, 
Conspiracy

Amend13.20

13.35

Amend13.60

29

30



2/4/2025

16

Report of the Subcommission on
Crimes Against Persons

February 6, 2025

Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented and Presentation of Additional 
RecommendaƟons for Discussion and Approval 

Members: Atty Joseph B. McDonald (Chair); Sgt. Michael Elliott; Atty John Morrison; 
Atty Christine Tenorio; Magistrate Judge Sean E. Brown

RECOMMENDED AMENDMENTS

CRIMES AGAINST PERSONS 
SUBCOMMISSION RECOMMENDATION ON DEFERRED SECTIONS

31

32



2/4/2025

17

9 GCA § 19.70 Stalking

A person is guilty of simple stalking if he or she 
willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly, follows or 
harasses another person or who makes a credible 
threat with intent to place that person or a member 
of his or her immediate family in fear of death or 
bodily injury.

• Use of common law mens rea upheld in P v. 
Manglona, 2024 Guam 8.

• Corrective amendment for proper grammar.

9 GCA § 25.10 Definitions

New subparagraph (a) (12)

“Cunnilingus” is the touching of the urethral 
opening, vaginal opening, or labia with the actor’s 
mouth.

People v. Legg, 494 N.W.2d 797, 798 (Mich. Ct. App. 
1992).

33

34



2/4/2025

18

9 GCA § 31.70 (d)

Any person who knowingly violates Subsection 
(a) and in so doing causes serious bodily injury, 
permanent disability, or permanent 
disfigurement to a child commits a felony of the 
third degree. 

RECOMMENDED REPEAL

CRIMES AGAINST PERSONS 
SUBCOMMISSION RECOMMENDATION ON DEFERRED SECTIONS

35

36



2/4/2025

19

9 GCA § 31.65 Curfew Hours 
for Minors

(b) Offenses.
(1)A minor commits an offense if he remains in any public

place or on the premises of any establishment on Guam
during curfew hours.

(2)A parent or guardian of a minor commits an offense if he
knowingly permits, or by insufficient control allows, the
minor to remain in any public place or on the premises of any
establishment on Guam during curfew hours.

(3)The owner, operator, or any employee of an establishment
commits an offense if he knowingly allows a minor to remain
upon the premises of the establishment during curfew
hours.

UNIMPLEMENTED SECTIONS

Ch. 89 Crimes Against Minors and Sex Offender 
Registry §§ 89.03, 89.06, 89.08

Ch. 93 Criminal Sexual Conduct Assessment and 
Rehabilitation Act §§ 93.20, 93.30, 93.35, 93.50

37

38



2/4/2025

20

NO CHANGES RECOMMENDED

CRIMES AGAINST PERSONS 
SUBCOMMISSION RECOMMENDATION ON DEFERRED SECTIONS

NO RECOMMENDED AMENDMENT
OR REPEAL

Child Pornography §§ 25A202, 25A303, 25A204

Kidnapping § 22.20

39

40



2/4/2025

21

Thank you!

PERSONS TABLE OF AMENDMENTS

TABLEADDREPEAL & RE-ENACTREPEALAMEND
No-

ChangeSection/ArticleChapter number, name

Amend19.70
9 GCA Chapter 19. Assaut, Reckless 
Endangering…

No-
Change22.20Chapter 22. Kidnapping…

Add25.10(a)(12)Chapter 25. Sexual Offenses.
No-

Change25A202Chapter 25A. Solicitation of Children…
No-

Change25A203
No-

Change25A204
31.65Chapter 31. Offenses Against the Family.

Amend31.70(d)
89.03Chapter 89. Crimes Against Minors…

89.06
89.08

93.20
Chapter 93. Criminal Sexual Conduct 
Assessment

93.30
93.35

93.50

41

42



2/4/2025

22

Notice of Next Meeting

Thursday, April 10, 2025, Noon

(Tentative)

Agenda

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. PROOF OF DUE NOTICE OF MEETING

III. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM

IV. DISPOSAL OF MINUTES December 3, 2024

V. OLD BUSINESS 
A. Subcommission Status Update and Report of the Executive Director

VI. NEW BUSINESS
A. Subcommission on Drugs & Other Criminal Offenses: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented and

Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and Approval
B. Subcommission on Crimes Relating to Property: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented and

Presentation of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and Approval
C. Subcommission on Crimes Against Persons: Continued Discussion of Chapters Previously Presented and Presentation

of Additional Recommendations for Discussion and Approval
D. Notice of Next Meeting

VII. COMMUNICATIONS 

VIII. PUBLIC COMMENT 

IX. ADJOURNMENT

43

44


	12.3.24 Plenary Meeting Minutes Final (2.4.25) Signed ASQ.pdf
	Attachments Consolidated.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page





